IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Petitioner,

v.

FREDDRICK HINES,

Respondent.

CASE NO. SC08-1204

PETITIONER'S INITIAL BRIEF

BILL McCOLLUM ATTORNEY GENERAL

TRISHA MEGGS PATE TALLAHASSEE BUREAU CHIEF, CRIMINAL APPEALS FLORIDA BAR NO. 0045489

THOMAS D. WINOKUR ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL FLORIDA BAR NO. 906336

OFFICE OF THE ATTORNEY GENERAL PL-01, THE CAPITOL TALLAHASSEE, FL 32399-1050 (850) 414-3300 (850) 922-6674 (FAX)

COUNSEL FOR PETITIONER

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

Petitioner, the State of Florida, the Appellee in the First District Court of Appeal and the prosecuting authority in the trial court, will be referenced in this brief as Petitioner, the prosecution, or the State. Respondent, FREDDRICK HINES, the Appellant in the First District Court of Appeal and the defendant in the trial court, will be referenced in this brief as Respondent.

The record on appeal consists of thirty-three volumes, which will be referenced according to the respective Roman numeral designated in the Index to the Record on Appeal, followed by any appropriate page number in parentheses.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

a. Procedural history of the instant case

Respondent was accused of committing a series of robberies with a firearm in early March 2002. The victims included Tiffany Snyder, Jennifer McQueen, Nicholas Bornhoft, Katherine Miller, Robert Sesna (I 21-22). In the case at bar, Respondent was charged with robbery with a firearm allegedly occurring on March 13, 2002, of victim Terrence Johnson (I 17).

During trial on this charge, the State presented evidence regarding Appellant's apprehension on March 21, 2002. Detective Campos of the Gainesville Police Department proceeded to Tuscan Bend Apartments on information that Respondent was staying there and was driving a gold Pontiac (IV 238-240). Gwendolyn Faulkner lived at this complex, and was Respondent's girlfriend at the time (IV 290-91). Respondent fled in the vehicle when approached by police (IV 243-48). Respondent crashed the vehicle into another car and fled on foot (IV 248, 265-68). A police dog ultimately tracked Respondent to back to Ms. Faulkner's apartment (IV 280-82).

Respondent was inside Ms. Faulkner's apartment and was arrested (IV 297). Faulkner consented to a search of the apartment. Id. Officers located and recovered a .357 revolver in a barbecue grill located next to the rear sliding glass door of the apartment (IV 309-317, V 350). The victim, Mr. Johnson, was shown a photograph of the handgun and indicated that it appeared to be the same type of weapon used to rob him (V 350-51). Johnson testified that the gun had a barrel similar to that used by appellant to rob him (III 126-27). As the District Court of Appeal ("DCA") put it in the opinion below, "[i]t is apparent from the record that the state offered the testimony regarding the .357 revolver in the hope that the jury would conclude that appellant had possession of the revolver on March 21st (the day it was found) and that, therefore, it was reasonable to infer that appellant had also possessed that revolver on March 13th (the date of the alleged robbery in this case)." Hines v. State, 983 So.2d 721, 722 (Fla. 1st DCA 2008).

On December 15, 2004, the jury found Respondent guilty as charged, including that he carried a firearm in the course of committing the robbery (I 303, VI 596). On January 10, 2005, the court adjudged him guilty in accordance with the verdict and sentenced him to life imprisonment as a prison release reoffender (II 306-312).

- 2 -

Respondent appealed the judgment and sentence (II 314). While the appeal was pending, Respondent went to trial on the charges arising from his March 21, 2002 apprehension.

b. Trial on the March 21, 2002 offenses

In Case No. 02-1045, Respondent was charged with four offenses arising from the March 21 incident: grand theft of a motor vehicle, possession of a short-barreled shotgun (found in the vehicle), possession of a firearm by a convicted felon, and fleeing or attempting to elude a law enforcement officer (XXXI 466-467). On April 12, 2005 (approximately three months after the conviction in the instant case) Respondent proceeded to a bifurcated trial, where the possession of firearm by felon charge would considered by the jury after disposition of the other charges. The court granted Respondent's motion judgment of acquittal on the fleeing charge on the ground that the State produced no evidence that the officer was in a marked vehicle (XXIX 443, XXXIII 232-241). The jury found Respondent guilty as charged on the grand theft of a motor vehicle and possession of short-barreled shotgun counts (XXXIII 309-310).

The case then proceeded on the possession of firearm by felon count. The court instructed the jury that it could consider only whether Respondent possessed the revolver found in the grill rather than the shotgun in the stolen car, because the jury had specifically found that Respondent only "constructively" possessed the shotgun (XXXIII 312). Respondent argued that the evidence was insufficient to show that he had actual, rather than constructive, possession of the revolver; the State argued that the evidence the evidence was

- 3 -

sufficient to show that he had actual, rather than constructive, possession of the revolver (XXXIII 312-313). The jury found Respondent not guilty of this offense (XXIX 444, XXXIII 324).

c. Other robbery trials¹

Respondent also proceeded to trial on two of the other robbery cases following his acquittal on the possession charge noted above. Respondent filed a motion in limine to preclude the State from introducing the .357 found in the grill into evidence, pursuant to <u>State v. Perkins</u>, 349 So.2d 161 (Fla. 1977), on the ground that the prior acquittal prohibited the State's use of such evidence. <u>Hines</u> <u>v. State</u>, 982 So.2d 22, 23 (Fla. 1st DCA 2008) ("<u>Hines I</u>"); <u>Hines v.</u> <u>State</u>, 982 So.2d 1276 (Fla. 1st DCA 2008) ("<u>Hines II</u>").² The trial court denied the motion in both cases. <u>Id.</u> The district court in

<u>Hines I</u> ruled that the denial of the motion in limine was error: Appellant argues that evidence of his possession of the .357 shotgun on March 21 was impermissible because he had previously been acquitted of the charge. In *Perkins*, the supreme court held that evidence of collateral crimes for which a defendant has been acquitted is not admissible in a subsequent trial. 349 So.2d at 163-64. The *Perkins* rule, however, precludes evidence of an acquitted collateral crime only when the prior verdict clearly decided in the defendant's favor the issue for which admission of the collateral crime is sought. *Diaz* v. *State*, 609 So.2d 1337, 1341 (Fla. 3d DCA 1992). When making this

¹In the DCA, this case was consolidated with the appeal of one of the other robbery cases, trial court case number 02-1031. Unless this Court orders otherwise, the State will rely on the DCA opinions for relevant facts involving that and the third robbery trial rather than supplement the record with the record of those cases.

²Although the trial in the instant case preceded the trials in <u>Hines I</u> and <u>Hines II</u>, the State has designated those case "I" and "II" because the appeals in those cases preceded the appeal in this one.

determination, a trial court should consider the record of the prior proceeding and conclude whether that jury could have grounded its verdict upon an issue other than that which the defendant now seeks to foreclose from consideration. *Wingate v. Wainwright*, 464 F.2d 209, 212 (5th Cir. 1972).

The State argues that the jury in Appellant's first trial did not decide the issue for which admission of the collateral crime was sought, as it only introduced the .357 found in the grill to corroborate the victim's identification that he had been robbed by a man wielding a .357. By showing that Appellant might have placed the gun in the grill on March 21, the State argued that Appellant had access to it near the time of the March 3 robbery. We see little difference between access to a gun on March 21 and possession of it on March 21, especially in light of the evidence and testimony presented at both trials.

Considering the entire record of the proceedings in Appellant's first trial, as we must in order to determine whether the jury determined the ultimate issue for which admission of the gun was sought in the second trial, we conclude that the jury decided the ultimate issue in the first trial. In both trials the State presented evidence that on March 21, Appellant ran past the grill to enter his girlfriend's apartment, depositing the .357 in the grill; no other evidence was presented to show that he did this at some time other than March 21. The jury found that Appellant did not possess a weapon on March 21. Cf. State v. Wade, 435 So.2d 898, 899-900 (Fla. 1st DCA 1983) (reasoning that the jury in the appellant's first trial could have concluded that the appellant armed himself while outside the dwelling in convicting him only for burglary of a dwelling, rather than armed burglary; therefore, the gun could be admitted at a second trial on the felon in possession charge). Accordingly, the trial court abused its discretion in admitting the .357 into evidence.

<u>Hines I</u> at 23-24. The court also ruled that the error was not harmless, and reversed for new trial. <u>Id.</u> at 24.

The trial in <u>Hines II</u> also occurred after the acquittal on possession charge. As in <u>Hines I</u>, Respondent claimed in <u>Hines II</u> that the trial court abused its discretion in admitting evidence of collateral crimes of which he had previously been acquitted. <u>Hines</u> <u>II</u>. The court, noting that the issue was precisely the same as presented in <u>Hines I</u>, ruled that <u>Hines I</u> controlled, and reversed for new trial. Id.

However, in the instant case (which the DCA decided after <u>Hines</u> <u>I</u> and <u>Hines II</u>), the DCA ruled that the decision in <u>Hines I</u> and <u>Hines</u> <u>II</u> did *not* control, because unlike the trials in those cases, the trial in this case *preceded* the acquittal on the possession charge. <u>Hines</u> <u>v. State</u>, 983 So.2d 721, 723 (Fla. 1st DCA 2008)(hereinafter "<u>Hines</u> <u>III</u>"):

> However, our decisions in those two appeals are not directly controlling here because, in those two cases, appellant had been acquitted of the charge alleging possession of a firearm by a convicted felon on March 21, 2002, before his trials; whereas, here, the acquittal did not occur until after the trial. Moreover, in the two other cases, appellant timely objected to the evidence; whereas, here he did not because he could not (as the acquittal had not yet occurred at the time of the trial).

The court in <u>Hines III</u> ruled that this Court's decision in <u>Burr</u> <u>v. State</u>, 576 So.2d 278 (Fla. 1991), controlled, and reversed on its authority. <u>Hines III</u> at 725. However, the court indicated that it was "troubled by the apparent illogic of such a result," upon the following reasons:

> As previously discussed, *Burr II* relied exclusively on *Perkins*, and *Perkins*, in turn, relied on the decision of the United States Supreme Court in *Ashe v. Swenson*, 397 U.S. 436,

> > – б –

90 S.Ct. 1189, 25 L.Ed.2d 469 (1970), which held that the doctrine of collateral estoppel was a requirement of due process of law embodied in the Fifth Amendment's guarantee against double jeopardy. However, as the Court pointed out in Ashe, "`[c]ollateral estoppel' ... means simply that when an issue of ultimate fact has once been determined by a valid and final judgment, that issue cannot again be litigated between the same parties in any future lawsuit." Id. at 443, 90 S.Ct. 1189 (emphasis added). The doctrine of collateral estoppel does not require reversal of a prior lawsuit because an issue of ultimate fact necessary to the outcome of that lawsuit was determined differently in a *subsequent* lawsuit. Such being the case, it does not appear to us that the authority relied on in Burr II for the result reached provides any support for that result. While policy arguments might be made both for and against the result in Burr II, it seems to us that, ultimately, the result must rest on a choice from among the countervailing policy considerations, rather than on constitutional considerations. One such important policy consideration, it seems to us, is the need for finality in judgments.

<u>Id.</u> Based upon these considerations, the DCA certified to this Court the following question, which it believed to be of great public importance:

> IS REVERSAL OF A PRIOR CRIMINAL CONVICTION REQUIRED BECAUSE AN ISSUE OF ULTIMATE FACT NECESSARY TO THE OUTCOME OF THE TRIAL OF THE PRIOR CASE IS DETERMINED DIFFERENTLY IN A SUBSEQUENT PROSECUTION?

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

ISSUE I.

State v. Perkins, 349 So.2d 161 (Fla. 1977), is based upon the same double-jeopardy principles underlying the collateral-estoppel component of the Fifth Amendment's Double Jeopardy clause. Applying collateral estoppel to retroactively exclude evidence in a *prior* proceeding turns this doctrine on its head. Collateral estoppel cannot apply in this manner, as the very basis for the doctrine is to protect the finality of judgments and to prevent relitigation of issues already decided. Leaving convictions open indefinitely on the chance that some fact used by the prosecution could serve as the basis of an acquittal at some unknown future point defeats the very purpose of the collateral estoppel doctrine. As such, retroactively excluding evidence based upon a subsequent acquittal is absolutely not required by application of the collateral estoppel component of the Double Jeopardy Clause.

Even if <u>Perkins</u> were not an application of the collateral-estoppel component of the Double Jeopardy Clause, the same policy considerations apply. A defendant who is acquitted of a collateral crime after it has been admitted in another trial is not forced to "reestablish" a defense or "resurrect" a prior defense. Thus, even if <u>Perkins</u> were not decided upon collateral-estoppel grounds, it still does not support the notion that collateral-crime evidence should be retroactively excluded if the defendant is later acquitted of the collateral crime.

- 8 -

While Burr v. State, 576 So.2d 278, 280 (Fla. 1991), appears to support the contention that Perkins requires retroactive exclusion of collateral-crime evidence, the State respectfully suggests that this holding confused the two remand issues from the Supreme Court. The first remand issue, addressed in the 1989 Burr decision, dealt solely with the Eighth Amendment effect of the subsequent acquittal of a crime that had been used as an aggravating factor supporting a death sentence. Any reasonable reading of Johnson v. Mississippi shows that it is based on the special considerations attending capital sentencing. Nothing about Johnson suggests that it was meant to create a constitutional rule of evidentiary law in non-capital cases, requiring reversal of a conviction when the defendant is subsequently acquitted of an act introduced as collateral-crime evidence in the earlier trial. However, even though this Court chose to reject Dowling v. United States as a matter of state law and allow the Perkins rule to remain, Perkins did **not** in fact require the exclusion of the collateral-crime evidence at the guilt phase of Burr's trial. Nothing about Perkins, either its language or the constitutional bases for it, suggests that it should require retroactive exclusion of evidence based upon a subsequent acquittal, for the reasons stated Such a rule of law erodes the finality of criminal judgments above. by subjecting them to future attack due to acquittals for some act that might have constituted criminal conduct that had been admitted at trial. Whatever policy reasons underlie Florida's strict "prior-acquitted conduct" rule, the State asserts that they do not

outweigh the countervailing policy considerations attending application of such a rule to subsequent acquittals.

ARGUMENT

ISSUE

IS REVERSAL OF A PRIOR CRIMINAL CONVICTION REQUIRED BECAUSE AN ISSUE OF ULTIMATE FACT NECESSARY TO THE OUTCOME OF THE TRIAL OF THE PRIOR CASE IS DETERMINED DIFFERENTLY IN A SUBSEQUENT PROSECUTION?

Standard of review

As this issues involves a pure question of law, review is *de novo*. <u>State v. Glatzmayer</u>, 789 So.2d 297, 301 n.7 (Fla. 2001).

Merits

a. Ashe v. Swenson

The starting point for analysis is the decision of the United States Supreme Court in Ashe v. Swenson, 397 U.S. 436 (1970). In that case, a group of masked men had robbed six men playing poker in the basement of a home. Ashe at 437. The State unsuccessfully prosecuted Ashe for robbing one of the men. Id. at 438. Six weeks later, however, the defendant was convicted for the robbery of one of the other players. Id. at 439. Applying the doctrine of collateral estoppel which it found implicit in the Double Jeopardy Clause, the Court reversed Ashe's conviction, holding that his acquittal in the first trial precluded the State from charging him for the second offense. Id. at 445-446. The Court defined the collateral-estoppel doctrine as providing that "when an issue of ultimate fact has once been determined by a valid and final judgment, that issue cannot again be litigated between the same parties in any future lawsuit." Id. at 443. As such, Ashe's acquittal in the first trial foreclosed the second trial because, in the circumstances of that case, the acquittal

verdict could only have meant that the jury was unable to conclude

beyond a reasonable doubt that the defendant was one of the robbers:

Straightforward application of the federal rule to the present case can lead to but one conclusion. For the record is utterly devoid of any indication that the first jury could rationally have found that an armed robbery had not occurred, or that Knight had not been a victim of that robbery. The single rationally conceivable issue in dispute before the jury was whether the Respondent had been one of the robbers. And the jury by its verdict found that he had not. The federal rule of law, therefore, would make a second prosecution for the robbery of Roberts wholly impermissible.

<u>Id.</u> at 445. A second prosecution was impermissible because, to have convicted the defendant in the second trial, the second jury had to have reached a directly contrary conclusion. <u>Id.</u>

The Court provided the following test to determine whether collateral estoppel barred a subsequent prosecution: "Where a previous judgment of acquittal was based upon a general verdict, as is usually the case, this approach requires a court to 'examine the record of a prior proceeding, taking into account the pleadings, evidence, charge, and other relevant matter, and conclude whether a rational jury could have grounded its verdict upon an issue other than that which the defendant seeks to foreclose from consideration.'" <u>Id.</u> at 444. In other words, collateral estoppel applies only where the fact sought to be introduced was "necessarily decided" in the earlier prosecution. See Davis v. State, 645 So.2d 66 (Fla. 4th DCA 1994).

b. State v. Perkins

On of this Court's first cases to address Ashe directly was State v. Perkins, 349 So.2d 161 (Fla. 1977). Perkins had been tried and convicted of the attempted rape of a child. Id. at 162. At trial, the State was permitted to introduce evidence from a witness who claimed that Perkins had engaged in similar conduct as to her. Id. However, Perkins had been tried and acquitted of charges arising from that collateral incident. Id. On appeal, the Fourth District Court of Appeal reversed, holding that Ashe absolutely prohibited admission of evidence of crimes for which a defendant has been acquitted. Perkins v. State, 332 So.2d 649 (Fla. 4th DCA 1976). The District Court relied upon Wingate v. Wainwright, 464 F.2d 209 (5th Cir. 1972), to support its conclusion. Wingate held that Ashe required the exclusion of collateral crime evidence for which the defendant had previously been acquitted.

This Court determined that the District Court decision in <u>Perkins</u> conflicted with <u>Lawson v. State</u>, 304 So.2d 522 (Fla. 3d DCA 1974). <u>Perkins</u> at 162. In <u>Lawson</u>, the defendant was tried for murder of his accomplice in a stolen securities scheme. Although Lawson was acquitted of the securities crime, the State introduced evidence relating to it in order to establish Lawson's motive for the murder. <u>Lawson</u> at 523. The court held that <u>Wingate</u> (and by extension <u>Ashe</u>) did not necessarily require exclusion of the evidence: "In the present case, we are inclined to accept the state's contention that some reference to the earlier stolen securities scheme was essential to

- 13 -

establish a motive for killing Eaton and to enable the state to intelligently present its case." Lawson at 524.³

This Court in <u>Perkins</u> held that "the District Court in this case misapplied the Ashe rule, while in terms of the Fifth Amendment, <u>Lawson</u> was correctly decided." <u>Perkins</u> at 163. "Thus, the Ashe rule forbids the admission in a subsequent trial of evidence of an acquitted collateral crime only when the prior verdict clearly decided in the defendant's favor the issue for which admission is sought. <u>Id.</u> "From Ashe we know the double jeopardy clause of the Fifth Amendment to the U.S. Constitution does not forbid the admission of all evidence of acquitted collateral crimes, but only that evidence which the state is collaterally estopped from introducing." Id.

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