IN THE SUPREME CURT OF FLORIDA

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Petitioner,

v.

CASE NO. SCO8-1204

FREDDRICK HINES,

Respondent.

RESPONDENT'S ANSWER BRIEF ON THE MERITS

/

NANCY A. DANIELS PUBLIC DEFENDER SECOND JUDICIAL CIRCUIT

STEVEN L. SELIGER ASSISTANT PUBLIC DEFENDER LEON COUNTY COURTHOUSE SUITE 401 301 SOUTH MONROE STREET TALLAHASSEE, FLORIDA 32301 SeligerS@leoncountyfl.gov (850)606-8537

ATTORNEY FOR RESPONDENT FLA. BAR NO. 244597

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT					
STATEMENT OF THE CASE	2				
STATEMENT OF THE FACTS					
SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT					
ARGUMENT					
ISSUE PRESENTEDREVERSAL OF A PRIOR CRIMINAL CONVICTION IS REQUIRED BECAUSE AN ISSUE OF ULTIMATE FACT NECESSARY TO THE OUTCOME OF THE TRIAL OF THE PRIOR CASE IS DETERMINED DIFFERENTLY IN A SUBSEQUENT PROSECUTION	8				
CONCLUSION					
CERTIFICATES OF SERVICE AND COMPLIANCE					

TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

PAGE(S)

CASES

<u>Ashe v. Swenson,</u> 397 U.S. 436 (1970)8
<u>Burr v. State</u> , 576 So. 2d 278 (Fla. 1991)8, 9, 12-16, 18
<u>Hines v. State,</u> 982 So. 2d 1276 (Fla. 1st DCA 2008)7
<u>Hines v. State,</u> 982 So. 2d 22 (Fla. 1st DCA 2008)7
<u>Hines v. State,</u> 983 So. 2d 721 (Fla. 1st DCA 2008)2, 9, 19
Lane v. State, 324 So. 2d 124 (Fla. 2nd DCA 1975)15
Lawson v. State, 304 So. 2d 522 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1974)9
<u>McDonald v. Wainwright,</u> 493 F.2d 204 (5th Cir. 1974)10
Perez v. State, 801 So. 2d 276 (Fla. 4th DCA 2001)14, 15, 17
<u>Smith v. Wainwright,</u> 568 F.2d 362 (5th Cir. 1978)15
<u>State v. Hines,</u> 990 So. 2d 1060 (Fla. 2008)
<u>State v. Perkins,</u> 349 So. 2d 161 (Fla. 1977)8-13, 15, 16, 18
<u>Wingate v. Wainwright,</u> 464 F.2d 209 (5th Cir. 1972)10, 11

CONSTITUTIONS

Art.	I,	§9,	Fla.	Const	12
------	----	-----	------	-------	----

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Petitioner,

v.

CASE NO. SCO-1204

FREDDRICK HINES,

Respondent.

I. PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

Mr. Hines was the defendant in the trial court, the appellant in the case before the First District and the respondent in this case. He will be referred to in this brief by his proper name.

References to the Record on Appeal will be by the volume number in followed by the appropriate page number, all in parentheses.

Any reference to the State's Initial Brief will be by (IB), followed by the page number of that brief.

II. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

(1) Nature of the case. This case is before this Court on a certified question from the District Court of Appeal, First District. <u>Hines v. State</u>, 983 So.2d 721 (Fla. 1st DCA 2008) This Court has accepted jurisdiction of the case. <u>State v.</u> Hines, 990 So.2d 1060 (Fla. 2008)

(2) Course of proceedings. Mr. Hines was tried and convicted of robbery with a firearm. (R1-17) (R2-303) (R6-596) The robbery was alleged to have occurred on March 13, 2002. (R1-17) On direct appeal, the First District reversed the conviction and remanded for a new trial. <u>Hines v. State</u>, 983 So.2d 721 (Fla. 1st DCA 2008) The State belatedly attempted to stay the mandate from issuing but this request was denied by the First District.

After the trial in this case, the State tried Mr. Hines for the possession of the firearm by a convicted felon. The firearm was the same one found by the police on March 21, 2002 and introduced at Mr. Hines trial in this case. In that case, (2002-1613-CFA), a jury found Mr. Hines not guilty of the possession of the gun. That case was resolved while the appeal in the First District was pending. <u>Hines v. State</u>, 983 So.2d at 723. As the First District noted, "Because [Mr. Hines] had stipulated to the fact that he was a convicted felon on March 21, 2002, the jury's

verdict was necessarily based on the conclusion that [Mr.Hines] had not possessed the revolver on March 21st."

(3) Disposition in the lower tribunal. In addition to reversing Mr. Hines' conviction and resulting sentence, the First District certified a question of great public importance.

IS REVERSAL OF A PRIOR CRIMINAL CONVICTION REQUIRED BECAUSE AN ISSUE OF ULTIMATE FACT NECESSARY TO THE OUTCOME OF THE TRIAL OF THE PRIOR CASE IS DETERMINED DIFFERENTLY IN A SUBSEQUENT PROSECUTION?

This is the issue before this Court.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

Terrence Johnson had walked to a library on the University of Florida campus to study for a test. (R3-92-93) Staying only briefly, Mr. Johnson walked home. (R3-95) Standing in front of his door with his keys in hand, he heard footsteps behind him. (R3-107) Mr. Johnson turned around; a black man with short hair told him to give him money. (R3-107) The man was holding a gun. (R3-108) Mr. Johnson told the man he did not have any money. (R3-107) He also a saw a second man standing on the street; the man was taller and had a different hairstyle, dreadlocks. (R3-107-108) The man with the gun got Mr. Johnson to give him his cell phone and backpack. Inside the backpack were a calculator and some books. (R3-113) Both of the men then left. (R3-113) Mr. Johnson then called the police. (R3-114)

The police showed Mr. Johnson a Wal-Mart surveillance photograph to see if he could identify the robbers. (R3-115) Mr. Johnson could not do so. (R13-966) Mr. Hines photograph was in this group. Five days later, the police showed Mr. Johnson a second set of photographs. (R4-223) From this array, Mr. Johnson picked out Mr. Hines as the man with the gun who had stolen his backpack and cell phone. (R3-123-124) Mr. Johnson made an incourt identification of Mr. Hines. (R3-109)

Mr. Johnson was shown a picture of a gun (State's Exhibit "H") at trial and said the barrel of the gun "looks like the same type" he saw in the robber's hand. (R3-127)

Three days later, on March 21, 2002, a police officer saw Mr. Hines driving a Pontiac convertible. (R4-238-239) The police officer chased Mr. Hines, whose car ended up in a crash. (R4247-248) Mr. Hines then got out of the car and fled on foot. (R4-247-248) The police then got a dog tracker and located Mr. Hines at the Tuscan Bend Apartments. (R4-282) The apartment complex was where Gwendolyn Faulkner lived. She was his girlfriend at the time and he would occasionally spend the night at her apartment. (R4-290-291) Mr. Hines was arrested by the police in her apartment on March 21st. (R4-282)

Ms. Faulkner consented to a search by the police of her apartment. The police found a bullet in her apartment. (R4-292) The police also found a firearm in a barbeque grill right outside her apartment. (R4-302) This was State's Exhibit "H". A search of the Pontiac car driven by Mr. Hines turned up a firearm case, speed loaders, and a black wig. (R5-332-333) The police said that the bullet found in the apartment and the speed loaders found in the Pontiac were compatible for use with the firearm found in the barbeque grill. (R4-225-226)

In his defense, Mr. Hines presented evidence that because of the conditions at the time Mr. Johnson saw the robber, that there were concerns about the accuracy of any identification. (R5-414-428) This was especially true when a victim describes a person in two different ways. (R5-445) Another person had entered a guilty plea in association with the robbery. This was Bernard Thomas. (R6-484) Mr. Thomas could not remember how he gained possession of Mr. Johnson's cell phone nor what calls he might have made on it. (R6-483)

A jail cellmate of Mr. Thomas said that Mr. Thomas had told him about a robbery and a stolen cell phone. This cellmate, Thedrice Lewis, said that Mr. Thomas told him that he had used the stolen cell phone to call Mr. Hines. (R6-488) This helped explain why Mr. Hines phone number appeared on Mr. Johnson's cell phone after it was stolen. (R6-488)

III. SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

This case represents one of a trio involving Mr. Hines that were decided by the First District. The other two cases involved much the same fact scenarios - <u>Hines v. State</u>, 982 So.2d 22 (Fla. 1st DCA 2008) and <u>Hines v. State</u>, 982 So.2d 1276 (Fla. 1st DCA 2008) In neither case has the State sought review in this Court. The only difference between those two cases and this case is that the trial which resulted in the jury finding of not guilty as to possession of the firearm in question is that this case was tried **before** that trial while the other two were tried subsequent to the not guilty finding. The First District decided there was NO meaningful distinction. That conclusion is correct.

IV. ARGUMENT

ISSUE PRESENTED

REVERSAL OF A PRIOR CRIMINAL CONVICTION IS REQUIRED BECAUSE AN ISSUE OF ULTIMATE FACT NECESSARY TO THE OUTCOME OF THE TRIAL OF THE PRIOR CASE IS DETERMINED DIFFERENTLY IN A SUBSEQUENT PROSECUTION

STANDARD OF REVIEW

Mr. Hines would agree that this Court will review the certified question as a question of law. The facts are not in dispute for this portion of the appeal. The review standard is *de novo*.

THE MERITS

The State says that the "starting point for analysis is the decision of the United States Supreme Court in <u>Ashe v. Swenson</u>, 397 U.S. 436 (1970) Mr. Hines disagrees. The analysis must be first informed by the two applicable decisions by this Court, <u>State v. Perkins</u>, 349 So.2d 161 (Fla. 1977) and <u>Burr v. State</u>, 576 So.2d 278 (Fla. 1991).

The State has not made any argument that <u>Perkins</u> does not control the other two cases of the Hines triad. In those cases, which were tried after Mr. Hines was acquitted of possessing the firearm, the State agrees that the evidence related to the gun was inadmissble because of <u>Perkins</u> In addition, the First District's finding that all the State's arguments trying to

distinguish <u>Burr v. State</u>, 576 So.2d 278 (Fla. 1991) as "not controlling" are "unpersuasive." <u>Hines</u>, 983 So.2d at 724.

The State is left with the proposition that <u>Burr v. State</u>, was wrongly decided. But the State misreads the import of <u>Burr</u>, founded as it is on the bedrock of <u>Perkins</u>. Perkins was tried and convicted of attempted sexual battery on a six year old child. The conviction was based on the testimony of the child and her brother. In addition, the State called as a witness a collateral crimes witness. This girl testified that when she was fourteen years, Perkins entered her room late at night and grabbed her. Perkins had previously been charged with this crime but a jury found him not guilty.

On appeal, the Fourth District reversed Perkins convictions. It decided that the Fifth Amendment's prohibition against double jeopardy precluded evidence of crimes to be introduced in another trial when the person had been acquitted of that charged crime. <u>Lawson v. State</u>, 304 So.2d 522 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1974) had been decided to the contrary. Lawson was charged with murder. As part of its case, the State presented evidence of a collateral crime for which Lawton had been found not guilty. The State argued that the evidence was admissible to show entire context of the murder. The prior crime was an attempt to cash stolen securites.

In essence, the State retried the entire prior crime to prove Lawton's motive for the murder. The Third District found that the record contained ample other evidence to establish motive without reference to the acquitted crime material. Ultimately, the Third District reversed the conviction because it believed the much of the evidence of the collateral crime was irrelevant. In its opinion, the Third District found that "an acquittal in a previous criminal proceeding does not automatically preclude referring to the crime as evidence in a subsequent criminal case where the relevance of the prior crime is justified under the Williams rule."In doing so, the Third District relied on a line of Florida cases. The Third District recognized contrary federal authority. <u>Wingate v. Wainwright</u>, 464 F.2d 209 (5th Cir. 1972); <u>McDonald v. Wainwright</u>, 493 F.2d 204 (5th Cir. 1974)

This Court in <u>Perkins</u> resolved the conflict between the Fourth and Third Districts. In doing so, this Court surveyed the myriad of positions taken by federal courts. "Federal courts generally permit the admission of evidence of collateral crimes resulting in acquittals when relevant. (Footnote omitted) Contrary to the general trend, the Fifth Circuit (now the Eleventh) does not permit admission of such evidence. (Citations omitted)" This Court also recognized a "split over the issue in

state jurisdictions. (Footnote omitted) And, too, there is disagreement within our state's District Courts of Appeal, as shown by the decision in this case when compared with other decisions." Perkins, 349 So.2d at 163.

To resolve these varying perspectives, this Court adopted the following position.

It is fundamentally unfair and totally incongruous with our basic concepts of justice to permit the sovereign to offer that a defendant committed a specific crime which a jury has concluded he did not commit. Otherwise a person could never remove himself from the blight and suspicious aura which surround an accusation that he is guilty of a specific crime. Wingate was charged with robbing Hellman and Angel and as result of those charges he endured the perils of trial. He was acquitted of those very charges and that should end the matter.

Wingate v. Wainwright, 464 F.2d 209 (5th Cir. 1972)

This Court agreed with this sentiment and made it the law of

Florida.

We agree with Wingate that is fundamentally unfair to a defendant to admit evidence of acquitted crimes. To the extent that evidence of the acquitted crime tends to prove that it was indeed committed, the defendant is forced to reestablish a defense against it. Practically, he must do so because of the prejudicial effect the evidence of the acquitted crime will have in the minds of the jury in deciding whether he committed the crime being tried. It is inconsistent with the notions of fair trial for the state to force a defendant to resurrect a prior defense against a crime for which he is not on trial. Therefore, we hold that evidence of crimes for which a defendant is not admissible in a subsequent trial.

Perkins, 349 So.2d at 163-164 (Emphasis supplied)

As already noted, the only distinction between the other two Hines' cases and this one is Mr. Hines was tried in this case before he was found not guilty in the possession of the firearm case. The State wants this Court to adopt a different rule because of a timing anomaly. A constitutional rule of evidence admissibility and its effect should not hang on so narrow a thread. This Court has already decided it should not. <u>Burr v.</u> <u>State,</u> 576 So.2d 278 (Fla. 1991) As the State rightfully says, this Court found that the rule in <u>Perkins</u> is a rule based on the State Constitution, Article I, Section 9.

The State then says that <u>Burr</u> was wrongly decided. "Applying collaleral estoppel to retroactively exclude evidence in a prior proceeding turns the entire doctrine on its head." (IB - age 15) To this end, the State posits the policy reason that "There can be no question that collateral estoppel cannot apply in this manner, as the very basis for the doctrine is to protect the finality of judgments and to prevent relitigation of issues already decided. Leaving convictions open indefinitely on the chance that some fact used by the prosecution could serve as the basis of an acquittal at some unknown future point defeats

the very purpose of the collateral estoppel doctrine. As such, retroactively excluding evidence based upon a subsequent acquittal is absolutely not required by application of the collateral estoppel component of the Double Jeopardy Clause." (IB - pages 15-16)

Yet the State ignores that the <u>Perkins</u> rationale as explained in <u>Burr</u> was based on this Court's notion of fundamental fairness and fair trial. This is the rule of law found in the language. The State would have the courts of this state treat similarly situated defendants only based on timing. It is important to note the practical effects of this position. Any defendant who is charged in separate cases by the State can face multiple trials. The order of those trials is in large measure determined by the State. It is a fact of trial life that prosecutors will pick their best case to try first. The law enshrines this ability to choose.

Based on the record in this case, the prosecution had multiple cases to decide to try. For whatever reason, the State chose the robbery in this case to try first. At the time, there were at least two other robbery cases that could have been tried. Instead, the State next chose to try Mr. Hines for possession of firearm by a convicted felon and aggravated fleeing or eluding. The State lost those cases. The State then decided to try the

other two cases, using the evidence for which Mr. Hines had explicitly been found not guilty. The State should not receive any benefit because it chose the order to try the cases.

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